2005

Lewiston State Bank, a Utah bank corporation v.
Greenline Equipment, L.L.C., a Utah limited
liability company, John Does I-X and Jane Does I-X
: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated 78-2-2(3)(j). The case was assigned to the Court of Appeals by the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Section 78-2-2(4) on or about August 16, 2005.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

Appellant asserts the following issue on appeal:

Did the District Court error in ruling that even though Defendant refinanced a purchase money security interest, the statutory provisions of Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9a-103(6)(c) somehow do not apply and as a consequence “[t]hat Defendant’s security interest in the collateral is junior to the priority secured position of Plaintiff as a matter of law.”

PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUE IN THE TRIAL COURT

The priority of the Defendant’s refinanced purchase money security interest was argued both by Memorandum and during the oral arguments of the hearing on summary judgment. The Defendant also supported the Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9a-103(6)(c) argument by submitting affidavit testimony and exhibits, including affidavits indicating the intent of the refinancing parties to extend the purchase money priority and the UCC-1 filing documents demonstrating that intent.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue of whether Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9a-103(6)(c) provides purchase money security priority to a third party creditor who refinances a purchase money security interest presents an issue of first impression of law. Issues of law are

subject to a correctness standard: *Smith v. Fairfax Realty, Inc.*, 2003 UT 41 (UT 2003); *Gerbich v. Numed, Inc.*, 1999 UT 37, 977 P.2d 1205 (UT 1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a dispute between creditors regarding the priorities of their respective security interests. Defendant asserts a priority premised upon Utah Code Ann. Section 70A-9-103(6)(c), which preserves purchase-money status upon purchase-money debt that is refinanced. Plaintiff upon Motion for Summary Judgment successfully asserted a nonpurchase money security priority premised upon (a) Plaintiff's filing of a general security interest on all of the debtor's crops and equipment prior to the Defendant's refinancing of the original purchase-money debt, and (b) the trial court's ruling that the Defendant's refinanced debt cannot be traced to the outstanding balance of the original purchase money debt within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated Rule Section 70A-9-103(6)(c), which preserves purchase-money status upon purchase-money debt that is refinanced.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As a preface to this factual summary, the Defendant relies upon the well-established rule: "When reviewing a district court's grant of summary judgment, we view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light of the nonmoving party." *Nolan v. Hoopiianina*, 528 Utah Adv Rep. 15, 2005 UT App. 272, quoting *Wayment v. Clear Channel Broad., Inc.*, 2005 UT 25, 523 Utah Adv. Rep 39. As the court did in *Nolan*, "We recite the facts of the case accordingly." *Id.*

On March 5, 1998, the Pali Brothers (the debtor) purchased two combines from Case and financed them through New Holland Credit. New Holland filed a purchase-money security interest on this purchase-money debt on 3/5/1998 (See attached Exhibit

1, 2, 3, and 4, to Pickrel's First Affidavit). This UCC filing constituted an original purchase-money obligation. The parties agree the New Holland's purchase-money security interest was entitled to a security priority to Plaintiff's security interest because it both (a) predated the Plaintiff's nonpurchase money security interest in all the crops and equipment of the debtor; and (b) constituted a valid purchase-money security interest that was senior in status to Plaintiff's security interest regardless of the filing date.

On February 22, 2000 and again on February 26, 2001 Plaintiff (Lewiston State Bank) filed a nonpurchase money security interest on all of the debtor's crops and equipment. When Plaintiff filed these general security interests a substantial balance remained on New Holland's senior purchase money security interest. Accordingly, in extending debtor credit in 2000 and 2001, as a matter of financial reality Plaintiff could not have relied upon the equity interest in the subject combines that is in dispute in this case that can be traced to the outstanding balance on the New Holland debt.

In early 2002 the Pali Brothers became delinquent in their payments to New Holland Credit on the purchase-money obligation for the disputed two combines. To avoid default upon New Holland's purchase-money security interest, on February 20, 2002 the Pali Brothers as debtors negotiated a refinance of the outstanding balance of the original purchase money debt, \$67, 654.79, with the John Deere on behalf of Defendant Greenline. According to the terms of their refinance agreement, the Defendant agreed to pay the outstanding balance owed to New Holland on the combines of \$67, 654.79 (Exhibit 10 of Pickrel's First Affidavit), then refinance the same equipment for the same outstanding balance with the Pali Brothers. The only essential difference between the original purchase money debt and the refinanced debt was that the Defendant agreed to (a) delay payments for a year to give the Pali Brothers a chance to recover from their

financial difficulties, and (b) refinance the same debt at a lesser interest rate.. (Exhibit 11 of Pickrel's First Affidavit: a four page Variable Rate Loan Contract and Security Agreements between the debtor and the Defendant as refinancing creditor). Prior to completing the refinance transaction, Defendant requested a lien release from New Holland for the combines (Paragraph 6 of Braegger's Affidavit).

In return for their more favorable refinance terms, the Pali Brothers as debtors agreed to give the Defendant "a purchase money security interest in the combines in connection with this purchase and resell." (Paragraph 4 of Pickrel's Second Affidavit). The Defendant was well aware that the debtors were having financial difficulties in making payments to New Holland on the purchase-money debt. According to the Affidavit testimony of Defendant's Jay Pickrel, Defendant would not have refinanced the combines without insuring that Defendant would have first priority lien. Indeed, Pickrel testified that as store manager he would never finance equipment for anything approaching "\$70,000 without ensuring Greenline a first priority lien position such as a purchase-money security interest." (Paragraph 4 of Pickrel's Third Affidavit). Melisa Braegger as Defendant's office manager also testified that "Greenline would not have purchased the two combines from the Pali Brothers and then financed them with John Deere Credit if they did not believe they had a purchase money security interest in the combines." (Paragraph 5 of the Braegger Affidavit).

The refinancing agreement between the debtor and the Defendant Greenline also provided as the only "add-ons" to the amount of the original purchase-money debt would be (1) a \$10 UCC filing fee to preserve the purchase-money status of the collateral being refinanced, and (2) a \$150 origination fee (Exhibit 11 to Pickrel's First Affidavit). On March 6, 2002, within twenty days of the February 20, 2002 refinancing agreement

between the Pali Brothers as debtors and the Defendant as refinancing creditors, the Defendant filed the agreed upon UCC purchase-money security interest, for which the Pali Brothers had agreed to pay as a \$10 “add-on.” This agreement and filing was intended to ensure that the refinanced collateral received the same purchase money priority that the previous creditor, New Holland, was entitled to as the previous purchase-money creditor (Exhibit 8, to Pickrel’s First Affidavit).

In connection with this refinance, the \$67, 519.85 in refinanced debt can be clearly traced to the outstanding amount of the original purchase-money debt of \$67,544.79. The \$10,626,43 finance charge identified in the refinancing documents as the potential total cost of refinancing the debt over the life of the loan, rather than being an “add on,” was less than the finance charges that would have been assessed under the original New Holland debt obligation because the refinance agreement provided a lower interest rate than the New Holland agreement (Exhibit 11 of Pickrel’s First Affidavit). Also, even though the Plaintiff was aware that Defendant had refinanced the combines, “Lewiston Bank made no claim on the combines when they were purchased from New Holland and resold to the Pali Brothers under the March 6, 2002 purchase-money security interest and at no time [following the refinancing] did Lewiston ever attempt to take possession of the combines under what they claimed was a priority security interest.” (Paragraph 8 of Pickrel’s Third Affidavit).

As a consequence of Defendant’s refinance of New Holland’s purchase money security, the Plaintiff was in the same secured situation they had been prior to the transaction: their 2001 and 2002 general security interests in all crops and equipment remained subordinate to the same amount of purchase-money priority in the exact same collateral that they had been subordinated to prior to the refinance. The only differences

between New Holland financing and the Defendant's refinancing were: (1) the "add-ons" refinanced included a \$150 origination fee and a \$10 fee for filing the UCC purchase money security interest; (2) the debtor Pali Brothers, who at the time of the refinancing were delinquent in their payments on the combines to New Holland, obtained a delay in making any payments for a year; and (3) the Defendant's total finance exposure over the course of the loan, the \$10,626.43 finance charge, was less than would have been incurred had the New Holland financing agreement.

As a matter of economic reality, the Defendant's refinancing New Holland's purchase-money obligation benefitted all the parties, including the Plaintiff, by (1) removing an immediate default and repossession by New Holland Credit of the two combines, (2) providing the Pali Brothers with additional time, resources, and lower finance charges, and (3) providing the Plaintiff with the benefit of an additional year of crops over which they held a security interest from the continued use of the combines. Moreover, the extension of the purchase-money priority over the same debt did not disadvantage the Plaintiff's security interest which had always been subordinated to the New Holland purchase money security interest. The Plaintiff gained, rather than lost, as a consequence of the the refinancing even with Defendant retaining purchase money priority in the refinanced debt.

The Pali Brothers made no payments to Defendants under the refinancing agreement, and defaulted when the first payment became due. The defendant repossessed the combines, repaired them for resell, and sold the first combine on June 20, 2003 for \$36,500 and the second combine for \$41,500. This litigation followed contesting the respective priorities of the two creditors with respect to the \$78,000 received from the sale of the combines. The Plaintiff in this action, who furnished none

of the funds to either purchase or refinance the disputed two combines, claims a windfall of the \$78,000 they would not have been entitled to if the New Holland debt had not been refinanced. They successfully argued in the summary judgment hearing that the purchase-money priority New Holland enjoyed in the combines was “transformed” by the refinancing into non-purchase-money debt, thereby justifying a windfall to them in the amount of the refinanced debt contributed by Defendant. The Defendant claims under Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9-103(6)(c) a refinance security priority only in the amount that can be traced through their refinancing to the collateral that had been subject to the original purchase-money security interest.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW DEFENDANT GREENLINE, AS A NEW REFINANCING CREDITOR, IS NOT ENTITLED TO PURCHASE MONEY PRIORITY UNDER UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 70A-9a-103(6)(c) OVER DEFENDANT’S NONPURCHASE MONEY SECURITY INTEREST.

Several legal issues, as well as most factual issues, related to this dispute over security priorities in this case are uncontested.

First, the original creditor, New Holland, prior to the refinancing of the subject combines held a perfected purchase-money priority over Plaintiff’s security interest under Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-324. New Holland’s security filing on March 5, 1998 held priority over Defendant’s general security interests filed on February 22, 2000 and February 26, 2001, both because under Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-322 New Holland security interest enjoyed a “priority in time of filing,” and also a priority in

status by qualifying as a purchase-money security interest under Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-103(1)(b). It is therefore uncontested that had the Pali Brothers defaulted to New Holland when they began to suffer financial difficulties in early 2002, then Plaintiff's general security claim would have been clearly subordinated to New Holland's outstanding balance of \$67,544.79.

Second, the Plaintiff in extending financial assistance to the Pali Brothers in 2000 and 2001 could not have relied upon the subject combines as collateral to the extent that they were subject to New Holland priority security interest in excess of the \$67,544.79 that was later refinanced.

Third, as recognized by the trial court in its Memorandum decision, New Holland at any time could have formally assigned its perfected security interest to the Defendant or anyone else and the assignment would have extended New Holland's security priority in the collateral. In this regard, the UCC does not bar one creditor from assigning the financing of the purchase-money security interest, even if that assignee later refinances the security interest. *In re Schwartz*, 52 B.R. 314, 315 (Bankr. E.D.Pa. 1985 (in a refinance case, the court held that "[t]he fact that a purchase-money security interest was assigned to one other than the original financier does not cause the security interest to lose its purchase-money status").

Fourth, New Holland could have refinanced the outstanding balance on the purchase money security interest debt on the exact terms contained in the Greenline refinancing agreement, without losing its security priority under the express provisions of Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9a-103(6)(c).

Fifth, according to the uncontested affidavit testimony of Defendant witnesses Jay Pickrel and Melissa Braeger, the Defendant's business practice was to require a first-lien

priority before entering into any purchase or refinance arrangement. Consistent with that business practice, the Defendant conditioned their agreement to refinance the Pali Brother's outstanding purchase money debt upon the Pali Brothers agreement to accept and pay the \$10 UCC filing fee to preserve the Defendant's purchase money priority status in the two combines. The Pali Brothers accepted this condition. Pursuant to that agreement the Defendant did in fact file the UCC-1 purchase-money security interest within twenty days of the date the debtor and Defendant entered into their Variable Contract and Loan and Security interest with the Pali Brothers. In accordance with that agreement, the Defendant throughout this controversy has always claimed a purchase-money priority.

Given these undisputed legal issues and facts, the only issue remaining is whether, notwithstanding Utah Code Annotated 70A-9-103(6)(c), Defendant's UCC-1 filing of a purchase money security interest, and the intent and expectations of the refinancing parties, the Defendant's refinancing of the purchase money debt somehow transformed the security interest into a non-preferred security interest? Should the technical fact that Plaintiff's nonpreferred security interest predated Defendant's refinancing of an earlier existing purchase-money security interest entitle Plaintiff to a priority windfall it would not have been otherwise entitled under any other assignment or refinance scenario? Should form override substance in this case? In answer to this single issue, the Defendant argues that it is entitled to a purchase-money priority over the Plaintiff's general security interest under (1) the plain meaning of Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-103(6)(c); (2) the legislative intent of Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-103(6)(c); (3) the common law justification of the "dual-status" rule adopted by Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-103(6)(c); (4) the policy reasons underlying Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-

103(6)(c) and the “dual status” rule; and (5) the rationale underlying the purchase money priority rules generally.

I. The Plain Meaning of the Applicable Statute Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9a-103(6)(c) provides for the extension of the original purchase money priority to the Defendant in this case.

Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9a-103(6)(c) expressly applies to the refinancing transaction between the Pali Brothers as debtors and the Defendant as the refinancing creditor. Even the trial court in his Memorandum Decision characterized the subject transaction between the Pali Brothers and the Defendant as a “refinance” of the original purchase-money debt, but he nonetheless denied the security interest priority status within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated Section 70A-9a-103(6)(c). The court in essence held that notwithstanding the agreement between the debtor and the refinancing creditor to extend the purchase-money priority status of the debt through the refinancing, they botched the priority status afforded by Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-103(6)(c) by filing a UCC-1 purchase money interest rather than obtaining an assignment from the original purchase-money creditor New Holland. However this overly legalistic and technical interpretation of the “refinance” provisions is neither supported by the statute nor consistent with the commonly understood policy that the UCC provisions should be interpreted liberally to achieve fairness and efficiency. Instead of distinguishing between an assignment of the purchase money priority status from the original creditor and an acceptance of the continuation of the priority status by the debtor, the statute simply provides as follows:

(6) In a transaction other than a consumer-goods transaction, a purchase-money security interest does not lose its status as such, even if:

(a) the purchase-money collateral also secures an obligation that is not a purchase-money obligation;

(b) collateral that is not purchase-money collateral also secures the purchase-money obligation; or

(c) *the purchase-money obligation has been renewed, refinanced, consolidated, or restructured.* (Emphasis added).

The plain meaning of the language contained within Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-103(6)(a) and (c) applies by the statute's terms to the facts of our case. First, the subject collateral involved non-consumer goods: two combines used in the Pali Brother's farming business. Second, prior to refinancing New Holland had acquired a purchase money security interest in the subject collateral. Third, prior to refinancing the combines, Plaintiff had acquired a security interest in all of the Pali Brother's crops and equipment that was subordinate to the New Holland purchase money security interest. Fourth, Defendant's credit transaction by every business practice understanding of the term constituted a refinance of the outstanding balance of the purchase-money debt. Fifth, the Defendant conditioned their willingness to refinance the purchase-money collateral upon their obtaining purchase money priority. Sixth, the debtor and refinancing creditor intended to extend the purchase money status to the Defendant Greenline. The debtor even agreed to pay for the UCC filing of Defendant's purchase-money security interest. Finally, the refinancing creditor did in fact file the purchase-money notice within the twenty day time period following the refinance transaction between the debtor and the Defendant Greenline. Accordingly, the statute by its terms

expressly applies and controls the priority issue in this case. The statute does not suggest in any way that the purchase-money status is “transformed” into non-purchase-money debt simply on the basis of the substitution of the identity of the creditors in the refinancing transaction.

II. The Legislative intent underlying the Utah Code Annotated 70A-9a-103(6)(c) justifies extension of the original purchase money priority to the facts in this case.

A. The Uniform Commercial Code Amendment UCC 9-103(f)(3) was intended to extend purchase money status to purchase money debt that is refinanced.

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