2005

Lewiston State Bank v. Greenline Equipment : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103(6)(c) does not provide Greenline (a third party creditor and not an original creditor or an assignee of the original creditor) with a purchase money security interest ("PMSI") when it paid off the original creditor and extinguished the existing PMSI and failed to take an assignment of the original creditor's interest in the collateral at issue.

2. Greenline should not be allowed to argue for the first time on appeal whether the trial court should have relied on policy justifications of fairness and equity to extend purchase money priority status to its position with the collateral for the first time on appeal when such issues were not presented first to the trial court. Greenline failed to preserve this issue on appeal.

3. Greenline has failed to "marshal the evidence" supporting the trial court's conclusion that its subsequent financing transaction was not a "refinance" that was entitled to

purchase money priority under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103(6)(c), which necessarily includes the “extremely fact-sensitive” application of the legal standard contained therein.

4. The trial court should have awarded Lewiston State Bank its reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred against Greenline as consequential damages resulting from its conversion of the collateral and sales proceeds as it was reasonably foreseeable that Lewiston State Bank would incur such attorney fees and costs in being forced to enforce its priority lien rights to disgorge the sale proceeds from Greenline and as Lewiston State Bank gave notice it would do so. Lewiston State Bank should likewise be awarded its attorney’s fees and costs incurred on appeal as a measure of consequential damages against Greenline.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT UTAH CODE ANN. §70A-9a-103(6)(c) DOES NOT PROVIDE A PURCHASE MONEY SECURITY INTEREST (“PMSI”) TO A THIRD PARTY CREDITOR ABSENT AN ASSIGNMENT OF THE ORIGINAL CREDITOR’S INTEREST.

In the Brief of Appellant, Greenline asserts that the issue of whether Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103(6)(c) provides purchase money security priority to a third party creditor who “refinances” a purchase money security interest without taking an assignment of the original creditor’s interest presents an issue of first impression of law in the State of Utah. As indicated below, however, there are no cases or statutory authority cited by Appellant throughout the entire United States that supports Greenline’s position.

As it did during the trial court proceedings, Greenline continues to erroneously rely upon a series of cases rejecting the “transformation theory” and confirming the “dual status theory” in support of its position that the New Holland (original creditor) priority purchase money security

interest (“PMSI”) established on March 5, 1998, somehow survived the admitted purchase of the equipment by Greenline and pay off of the original New Holland debt with subsequent financing by John Deere Credit. Each of the cases cited by Greenline in the Brief of Appellant either includes a “refinance” by the original creditor holding a PMSI or a “refinance” by a subsequent creditor holding a perfected assignment of the PMSI from the original creditor to maintain its priority. Greenline is **NOT** an original creditor holding a PMSI and is **NOT** a subsequent creditor holding a perfected assignment of a PMSI from an original creditor.

In the Tenth Circuit case *In re Billings v. Avco Colorado Industrial Bank*, 838 F.2d 405 (10th Cir. 1988), the debtor (not an intervening secured party) attempted to invalidate the creditor’s PMSI despite the fact that such creditor provided “refinancing of a purchase money loan, by which the old note and security agreement were cancelled and replaced by a new note and security agreement” upon the same collateral and “the back of the loan application stated that creditor would retain the purchase money interest.” *See In re Billings at 406.*

In re Billings is easily distinguished as Greenline is not the original creditor that established a PMSI and never received an assignment of the New Holland PMSI nor perfected the same. Further, there are no documents which support the parties’ intent to retain the New Holland PMSI status such as the loan application cited in *Billings*. *Id.*

In the United States Bankruptcy Court case *In re Krueger*, 172 B.R. 572, 574 (N.D. Ohio 1994), the debtor attempted to invalidate the secured position of the original creditor holding the PMSI which refinanced the debt. The Court found that “there was no evidence that refinancing represented payment, satisfaction or discharge of loan...and refinancing was specifically contemplated creditor’s retention of the security interest.”

The facts of *In re Krueger* are distinguishable from the present matter as Greenline has admitted in its pleadings and affidavits that it purchased the two combines from the Pali Brothers for the delinquent outstanding balance owed to New Holland, which clearly satisfied and discharged the original New Holland debt. *See payoff documents, Appellant's Addendum, pgs. 45-46.* As stated previously, Greenline is not the original creditor that established a PMSI, never received an assignment of the New Holland PMSI nor perfected the same, and there are no documents which support the parties' intent to retain the New Holland PMSI status.

In the United States Bankruptcy Court case *In re Short*, 170 B.R. 128 (S.D.Ill. 1994), the debtor attempted to invalidate the secured position of the original creditor holding the PMSI which refinanced the debt. The Court found that the security interest survived due to the intent of the parties with a finding under Illinois law that a financing agency obtains a purchase money security interest when it advances money and takes back an assignment. This cited case also refers to the "transformation rule" and "dual status rule" which do not have any application to the present matter as Greenline is not the original creditor that established a PMSI, never received an assignment of the New Holland PMSI nor perfected the same, and there are no documents which support the intent of the parties to retain the New Holland PMSI status.

In the United States Bankruptcy Court case *In re Hill*, 226 B.R. 284 (10th Cir. 1998), the debtor again attempted to invalidate the secured position of the subsequent creditor holding a perfected assignment of the PMSI that had refinanced the debt. This case is distinguishable as Greenline never received an assignment of the New Holland PMSI nor perfected the same.

The case *In re Schwartz*, 52 B.R. 314, 315 (E.D.Pa. 1985) clearly establishes that an "assignee" of the PMSI may later refinance the debt and maintain its PMSI status. Again, this case

is distinguishable as Greenline never received an assignment of the New Holland PMSI necessary to preserve the PMSI status.

These cases are all clearly distinguishable from the present matter where there was no “refinance” by the original creditor holding a PMSI nor an assignment of a PMSI to any subsequent creditor. Without an assignment of the New Holland PMSI to Greenline, such PMSI was extinguished by Greenline’s subsequent admitted purchase and pay-off of the original debt. Greenline has failed to meet its burden of proving that it holds a PMSI under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103(7).

Greenline further errantly relies on the OFFICIAL COMMENT to the Uniform Commercial Code § 9-103 citing circumstances of a debt being “renewed, refinanced, and restructured” as if it is applicable to its purchase of the collateral from the Pali Brothers and subsequent financing through John Deere Credit. While rejecting the “transformation rule,” the OFFICIAL COMMENT in paragraph 7 gives the specific example of the debt being refinanced by the “original lender.” Greenline and/or John Deere Credit are not the “original lender” in the transaction at issue, so the reference to the OFFICIAL COMMENT has no application to Greenline’s priority claims.

It should be further noted here that the subsequent financing transaction that Greenline claims was a “refinance” was extended to Eli M. Pali and Bart P. Pali individually and was **NOT** extended to Pali Brothers as was the original debt to New Holland, resulting in a new creditor and new debtors, which begs the question whether the transaction at issue can be properly considered a “refinance” in the first place. *See UCC filing detail and Security Agreement, Appellant’s Addendum, pgs. 34, 43, 47-51.*

There is no question that if New Holland as the original creditor had refinanced the debt with new loan documents that referred to the parties' intentions to maintain its original PMSI status, or had assigned its interest in the collateral to Greenline, Lewiston State Bank's security interest would be subordinate thereto. The evidence is clear, however, that such never occurred in this matter and that New Holland never assigned its PMSI status. New Holland was merely paid the debt it was owed, which extinguished the debt and the PMSI. Greenline has significantly confused this issue by characterizing its subsequent purchase and new financing through John Deere Credit as a "refinance."

Accordingly, the trial court appropriately ruled that because Greenline was not an "original creditor," had never entered into an assignment agreement with New Holland (the original creditor and PMSI holder), and there was no clear evidence of any intent to transfer the original PMSI status held by New Holland to Greenline, the security interest obtained by Greenline was junior to the priority position of Lewiston State Bank. *See Memorandum Decision dated February 25, 2005, TR at pg 289, Appellant's Addendum, pg. 8.*

II. GREENLINE FAILED TO PRESERVE ITS CLAIMS THAT THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE RELIED ON POLICY JUSTIFICATIONS OF FAIRNESS AND EQUITY.

Greenline's Brief of Appellant fails to adequately cite the trial record as required by Rule 24(e) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, making it difficult to determine where Greenline preserved the issues it argues on appeal. An issue is preserved for appeal when a party timely brings the issue to the attention of the trial court, thus providing the court with an opportunity to rule on the merits. The Court of Appeals cannot consider issues raised for the first time on

appeal absent plain error or exceptional circumstances. *See York v. Shulsen*, 875 P.2d 590, 594 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

Based upon review of the trial record, it appears that Greenline failed to present the policy justification arguments to the trial court. *See Brief of Appellant*, pg. 31 – 39. Greenline should not be allowed to argue for the first time on appeal that the trial court should have relied on policy justifications of fairness and equity to extend purchase money priority status to its position with the collateral when such issues were not presented first to the trial court. Greenline failed to preserve these issues on appeal and is now precluded from making such arguments. *Id.*

Furthermore, to the extent that public policy considerations are properly before this Court, if the Utah Court of Appeals were to adopt Greenline's position it would reverse a significant component of the UCC's "first to file" rules that provide certainty as to the priority rights of intervening lien holders in the credit industry and would likewise nullify the UCC's "assignment" provisions altogether. The technical rules of the UCC must be followed just as the strict provisions of the Utah real property recording statute. The credit industry demands reliance upon the provisions of the UCC, otherwise chaos in the banking and lending industry would result where any unrelated third-party could supersede a bona-fide secured priority interest by paying minimal value and ignoring the assignment and filing requirements of the UCC. A lender could never rely on the UCC filings to determine lien priority prior to extending a loan. There has been absolutely no evidence submitted by Greenline that its position and chaotic result is supported by the legislative intent when Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103(6)(c) was adopted.

III. GREENLINE FAILED TO “MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE” SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT’S DETERMINATION THAT ITS FINANCING TRANSACTION WAS NOT A “REFINANCE” ENTITLED TO PURCHASE MONEY PRIORITY UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. § 70A-9a-103(6)(c).

Greenline has failed to “marshal the evidence” supporting the trial court’s conclusion that its subsequent financing transaction was not a “refinance” entitled to purchase money priority under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103(6)(c). Such finding by the trial court and application of the legal standard at issue was “extremely fact-sensitive” as evidenced by the trial court’s Memorandum Decision dated February 25, 2005. *See Memorandum Decision dated February 25, 2005, TR at pg. 289, Appellant’s Addendum, pg. 11.*

If a determination of correctness of a trial court’s application of a legal standard in extremely fact sensitive, the appellant has a duty to marshal the evidence. *See Chen v. Stewart*, 100 P.3d 1177 (Utah 2004). In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the appellant must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every piece of competent evidence which supports the findings that the appellant resists. *See Moon v. Moon*, 973 P.2d 431 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). When an appellant fails to marshal the evidence, the appeal fails and must be rejected. *See Child v. Gonda*, 972 P.2d 425, 434 (Utah 1998).

Greenline failed to marshal the evidence in the Brief of Appellant and failed to cite in comprehensive fashion the evidence that support’s the trial court’s determination that Greenline was not entitled to purchase money priority under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103(6)(c), such as the absence of assignment documents between New Holland and Greenline and the absence of any reference in Greenline’s financing documents evidencing the intent of the parties to maintain the PMSI. *See Memorandum Decision dated February 25, 2005, TR at pg 289, Appellant’s*

Addendum, pg. 15. Absent meeting its obligations to marshal the evidence, Greenline's appeal must be rejected. *See Child v. Gonda*, 972 P.2d 425, 434 (Utah 1998).

IV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY FAILING TO RULE THAT LEWISTON STATE BANK WAS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS AGAINST GREENLINE AS CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES.

In its Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment Re: Damages, Lewiston State Bank asserted two arguments for an award of attorney's fees and costs against Greenline. The first argument asserted that the claim for reasonable attorney fees and costs was supported by Greenline's continuing bad faith defense in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56 having knowingly converted the collateral and/or sales proceeds after receiving notice of Plaintiff's priority lien status. *See Memorandum in Support, TR at pg. 305*. This claim was clearly rejected by the trial court as there was insufficient evidence. *See Memorandum Decision dated June 29, 2005, TR at pg. 327, Appellant's Addendum, pg. 20*. Lewiston State Bank also asserted a second argument for an award of attorney fees and costs arguing that "Plaintiff's claim for reimbursement of attorney fees and costs is also supported as an element of consequential damages for Defendant's conversion as it was reasonably foreseeable that Plaintiff would incur such fees and costs in being forced to enforce its priority lien rights to disgorge the sale proceeds from Defendant. *See Heslop v. Bank of Utah*, 839 P.2d 828 (Utah 1992); *See also Canyon Country Store v. Bracey*, 781 P.2d 414 (Utah 1989)." *See Memorandum in Support, TR at pg. 305*.

The trial court utterly failed to consider this second argument for attorney fees and costs in its Memorandum Decision. *See Memorandum Decision dated June 29, 2005, TR at pg. 327*,

Appellant's Addendum, pg. 20. Both the *Heslop* and *Canyon Country Store* cases support the proposition that attorneys fees may be awarded as consequential damages where there is no other contract or statutory basis so long as such damages are reasonably foreseeable.

In the present action, Greenline knew of Lewiston State Bank's priority claims as early as March 25, 2002, when "Mr. Jay Pickrell and Mr. Mike Phillips, representatives of Defendant Greenline, contacted Plaintiff to determine whether Plaintiff was willing to give up its priority secured position in the Collateral and Plaintiff responded that it was going to retain its secured positions." *See Affidavit of Anthony Jon Hall*, para. 15, filed in support of Plaintiff's original Motion for Summary Judgment, TR at pg. 61.

Further, "That on or about April 17, 2003, Mr. Ronald E. Mumford sent a demand letter to Defendant Greenline regarding the combines, again placing said Defendant on notice of its superior lien position regarding the combines as being part of the Collateral, and made demand for payment or to make such Collateral available for repossession and sale by Plaintiff." A copy of this letter is attached to Plaintiff's Complaint as Exhibit "H" and is incorporated by this reference. *See Affidavit of Anthony Jon Hall*, para. 14, filed in support of Plaintiff's original Motion for Summary Judgment, TR at pg. 61.

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